THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

JAN 05 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001604  
Circuit Court Case No. 2015-CP-13-00379

Town of McBee ..... Appellant,

v.

Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Company, Inc., Alligator  
Rural Water Company, Inc. .... Defendants,

and

A.O. Smith Corporation ..... Intervenor-  
Defendant,

of whom

Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Company, Inc. and  
Alligator Rural Water Company, Inc. are the ..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE &  
RICE, LLP

SWEENY, WINGATE & BARROW, PA

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This appeal involves a preliminary injunction issued by the circuit court that prevents the Town of McBee from using its own wells to provide water service to its customers during the pendency of this litigation. The circuit court's injunction orders raise several issues:

1. Does 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) prohibit the Town of McBee from using its own wells to provide water service to its own distribution customers?
2. Did the circuit court err by basing its injunction in part on a water-service contract between the Town of McBee and the Alligator Defendants that does not require the Town to purchase any minimum amount of water from the Alligator Defendants?
3. Did the circuit court err by holding that (a) the Alligator Defendants would be irreparably harmed in the absence of a preliminary injunction and (b) the Alligator Defendants did not have an adequate remedy at law, where the only harm alleged would be the loss of money?
4. Did the circuit court err by issuing a preliminary injunction without requiring the Alligator Defendants to post a bond, as directed by Rule 65(c), SCRCPP?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. Procedural History**

This case concerns an injunction<sup>1</sup> issued by the circuit court in a dispute over water service rights between the Town of McBee ("McBee" or "Town") and Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Company, Inc. and Alligator Rural Water Company, Inc. (collectively "Alligator"). On June 17, 2015, McBee filed its Summons and Complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that Alligator could not directly provide water service to A.O. Smith Corporation ("A.O. Smith"). A.O. Smith operates a manufacturing facility adjacent to McBee, and it is and has been a water customer of McBee's since A.O. Smith opened this plant.

---

<sup>1</sup> The circuit court used the term "temporary restraining order" and "temporary injunction" interchangeably in its orders. McBee contends that while phrased as a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction was granted.

In the Complaint, McBee alleged that its existing water service to A.O. Smith was protected under the terms of 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b), which precludes third parties from taking customers from utilities providers with outstanding USDA loans. McBee further alleged that Alligator's attempt to provide direct water service to A.O. Smith would violate that federal statute. (R. pp. 19-21; Verified Amended Complaint.)

On July 31, 2015, the circuit court entered a consent order enjoining Alligator from providing or attempting to provide water service to A.O. Smith until resolution of this litigation. (R. pp. 3-5; Consent Order Prohibiting Defendants from Providing Water Services to A.O. Smith while Litigation is Pending.) On August 17, 2015, Alligator filed and served its own motion for temporary restraining order, alleging that the Town's plan to produce and use the Town's own wells to provide treated water to the Town's own distribution system and customers violated the protections of 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) with respect to Alligator. (R. pp. 159-60; Notice of Motion and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order.)

The circuit court heard arguments on this motion on March 23, 2016. It then filed an order on April 12, 2016, granting Alligator's motion for a temporary injunction. (R. pp. 7-8; Order Prohibiting Plaintiff from Selling Water Pumped from Its Wells while Litigation is Pending (April 12, 2016).)

That order, however, contained no discussion or findings supporting any of the elements necessary for a temporary injunction. Accordingly, on April 27, 2016, McBee filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment based on the circuit court's failure (a) to properly consider any of the three elements required to issue a preliminary injunction; and (b) to require Alligator to post the bond required by Rule 65(c), SCRCF. (R. pp. 244-67; Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.)

The circuit court heard McBee's motion to alter or amend the judgment on May 24, 2016. It denied the motion by order dated July 12, 2016. (R. pp. 9-15; Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.) This appeal followed.

## **II. Statement of the Facts**

Like many local governments, the Town of McBee operates a public water system that serves residential, commercial, and industrial customers. Prior to 1999, McBee operated all aspects of its water system. (R. p. 62; Verified Amended Complaint p. 4.) In 1999, the town council agreed to outsource operational control of the water system to Alligator, and McBee began buying wholesale water service from Alligator for McBee for sale to its customers. (R. p. 192; Affidavit of John Campolong, Mayor of Town of McBee p. 1; R. pp. 62-63; Verified Amended Complaint pp. 4-5.) In 2005, and again in 2006, McBee issued bonds to the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural Development ("USDA") to finance the refurbishing of the water mains throughout the Town and improvements to other distribution system assets. Those bonds totaled in excess of \$4 million and were issued under the terms of the Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Act of 1961, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1921 *et seq.* (R. p. 61; Verified Amended Complaint p. 3.) McBee pledged its water-service revenues to secure payment of these bonds. (*Id.*) That debt remains outstanding. (*Id.*)

In the ensuing years, the relationship between McBee and Alligator deteriorated. (R. p. 193; Affidavit of John Campolong, Mayor of Town of McBee p. 2.) In 2008, the Town set about fully reclaiming its water system. The Town applied for a permit from the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("DHEC") to authorize the Town to resume operational control of its water system. On June 14, 2011, DHEC issued that permit.

In order to begin producing its own water again, McBee was required to refurbish the Town's wells and associated treatment facilities which had fallen into disuse. (R. p. 65; Verified

Amended Complaint p. 7.) McBee applied to DHEC for a permit to place a new submersible pump in its main well, Well No. 2, and to refurbish its water chlorination system, which permit DHEC granted on November 13, 2012. (R. pp. 252–67; DHEC Operating Permits, Water Supply Construction Permits, and Final Approvals for Wells, Exhibits to Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.) At DHEC’s request, McBee agreed to install a granulated activated carbon (“GAC”) filtering system for its wells, and applied for and received a permit for this work on June 30, 2014. McBee spent approximately \$480,000 of public funds for construction and modifications of its wells and the associated GAC system. (R. p. 139; Tr. of May 24, 2016 p. 9.)

Alligator did not object to any of McBee’s above-described actions. Instead, it waited until the work under these permits was completed and attempted to hijack McBee’s largest water customer, A.O. Smith, which accounts for approximately 60% of McBee’s water revenues, and who has exclusively purchased its water from McBee since the plant was built. (R. p. 61; Verified Amended Complaint p. 3.) Alligator’s tack has taken two routes.

In June of 2015, McBee came to learn that Alligator was attempting to provide water directly to A.O. Smith when it discovered a construction crew in the field building a line from Alligator’s mains to A.O. Smith’s meter site. Those efforts have been forestalled through a consent injunction issued by the circuit court that is not before the Court. (R. pp. 1-5; Consent Order Prohibiting Defendants from Providing Water Services to A.O. Smith while Litigation is Pending.)

Second, Alligator claims that because it is also indebted to the USDA through a loan under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b), McBee must continue to buy wholesale water from Alligator pursuant to the parties’ 1999 contract. (R. pp. 33-34; Ans. & Countercls. of Alligator p. 8.) However, that contract does not require McBee to purchase any specific quantity of water from Alligator, nor is

it an all-requirements contract. (R. p. 42; Water Purchase Agreement, Exhibit A to Ans. & Countercls. of Alligator, Article 1.)

Accordingly, McBee should be free as a matter of both contract and federal law to operate its now-permitted water system, free from any impediments or interference by Alligator. But the circuit court has improperly enjoined McBee from using its own wells and running its system. Because the injunction order is directly contrary to governing federal law and South Carolina's standards for issuing preliminary injunctions, and because it inexplicably fails to require Alligator to post the bond required by Rule 65(c), the Court should vacate the injunction and authorize McBee to fully operate its water system.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

While injunction orders are reviewed for an abuse of discretion, such abuse is present when the lower court commits an error of law. *Strategic Res. Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). In turn, questions of law, such as interpretation of statutes and whether a contract is ambiguous, are reviewed *de novo* by this Court. *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). Additionally, because injunctions are equitable in nature, "an appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Denman v. City of Columbia*, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Alligator alleges that as an association indebted under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b), it has the exclusive right to provide water to McBee against all others sources, including McBee's own water, such that McBee should be enjoined from turning on its own water wells that it has spent approximately six years and nearly half a million dollars refurbishing and permitting. The circuit court erred in issuing its preliminary injunction orders in two main ways. First, Alligator failed to

prove any of the elements required to grant an injunction, most importantly, the likelihood of success on the merits. Second, the circuit court failed to require a bond. Each is addressed below in turn.

**I. Alligator failed to prove any of the elements required to grant an injunction.**

South Carolina's courts have been clear that an injunction is a "drastic remedy" that can only issue in the limited circumstance where the requesting party meets three elements: (1) it will suffer an "irreparable harm" in the absence of an injunction; (2) it is likely to succeed on the merits of the case; and (3) there is an "inadequate remedy at law." *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004). Here, Alligator has failed to prove any of these three elements, much less all of them.

**A. Alligator cannot succeed on the merits of its claims.**

Alligator is not likely to win on the merits of this case because it has no right whatsoever to prevent McBee from operating its own wells to provide service to its own water customers using its own distribution system. The circuit court entirely misunderstood and misconstrued the reach of federal law on this dispositive issue.

**1. Title 7, Section 1926(b) of the United States Code does not prohibit McBee from operating its own water system.**

"In 1961, Congress amended legislation to allow nonprofit water associations to borrow federal funds to conserve, develop, use, and control water primarily serving rural residents." *Rural Water Dist. No. 5 Wagoner Cty., Okla. v. City of Coweta*, 949 F. Supp. 2d 1091, 1094 (N.D. Okla. 2013).<sup>2</sup> Since 1994, the USDA has administered such loans. *See Rural Water Sewer*

---

<sup>2</sup> The courts have construed the definition of "association" contained in 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) to encompass municipalities as well as non-profit water companies. *See, e.g., Ross Cnty. Water Co. v. City of Chillicothe*, 666 F.3d 391, 398 (6th Cir. 2011) (non-profit, member-owned, water company entitled to the protections of § 1926(b)); *City of Cowan, Tenn. v. City of Winchester*,

& *Solid Waste Mgmt. Dist. No. 1, Logan Cnty., Okla. v. City of Guthrie*, 654 F.3d 1058, 1061 (10th Cir. 2011). The revenues from the associations' water service secure these loans. *Pub. Water Supply Dist. No. 3 of Laclede Cnty., Mo. v. City of Lebanon, Mo.*, 605 F.3d 511, 521 (8th Cir. 2010).

Once a loan has been granted, 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) prohibits third-party suppliers of water from taking a customer from the provider that has outstanding USDA loans. 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b).

Section 1926(b) provides:

The service provided or made available through any such association [that is a recipient of a federal loan] shall not be curtailed or limited by inclusion of the area served by such association within the boundaries of any municipal corporation or other public body, or by the granting of any private franchise for similar service within such area during the term of such loan; nor shall the happening of any such event be the basis of requiring such association to secure any franchise, license, or permit as a condition to continuing to serve the area served by the association at the time of the occurrence of such event.

Typically, cases interpreting Section 1926(b) involve situations where a municipality attempts to encroach on a federally-indebted association's area of service, with the statute clearly forbidding such an action. In the present situation, however, there is no expansion from a third-party into an area served by another; rather, a wholesale water customer seeks to use its own facilities to produce water for itself. Under no reading does Section 1926(b) prohibit a wholesale customer from producing its own water to service its own customers.

In fact, the current case mirrors the precise issue in *CSL Utilities, Inc. v. Jennings Water, Inc.*, 16 F.3d 130, 133–34 (7th Cir. 1993), *as modified on denial of reh'g* (Feb. 25, 1994). In *CSL Utilities*, Jennings Water, Inc. was a rural water association indebted pursuant to Section 1926(b). *Id.* at 132. *CSL Utilities, Inc.* was a private nonprofit water company. *Id.* Jennings was

---

*Tenn.*, 121 F. Supp. 3d 795, 802–03 (E.D. Tenn. 2015) (City was an association within the meaning of the statute.).

CSL's wholesale supplier. *Id.* CSL decided to construct its own water treatment facilities. *Id.* CSL then sought a declaratory judgment that having its own supply of water, rather than purchasing all of its water from Jennings, did not violate Section 1926(b). *Id.* The court granted that declaratory relief.

The *CSL Utilities* court framed the issue exactly as it is between McBee and Alligator: “CSL concedes that construction of the water treatment facility will curtail the amount of water it purchases from Jennings. . . . The issue here is not so much the scope of the service area as it is the right of a wholesale customer serving at retail to *improve its own facilities to curtail or eliminate the need for wholesale supply.*” *Id.* at 133–34 (emphasis added).

In considering this question, the court found that “the cases and fragments of legislative history available to us all seem to have in mind curtailment resulting from substitution of some *third party* as a water-supplier for Jennings.” *Id.* at 135 (emphasis added). It continued: “[T]here is no fair implication by which it [7 U.S.C. § 1926(b)] can be said to reach improvement by a wholesale customer of its own facilities so as to reduce the amount of water it must purchase at wholesale.” *Id.* at 136. “If Congress had in mind any authorized construction or development which would reduce demand for the rural association’s water, it could easily have used language broad enough to reach that broadly defined activity.” *Id.* Thus, the *CSL Utilities* court found that an interpretation of Section 1926(b) to prohibit a utility from developing “its own facilities to service its existing customers more economically” would be an “extreme application” of the law—an application that the court readily rejected. *Id.* at 137.

The present situation is precisely the same; therefore, the settled law holds that Alligator cannot prevail on the merits. Alligator is a rural nonprofit water association indebted to the USDA, just like Jennings was in *CSL Utilities*. McBee is a wholesale water customer, just like

CSL Utilities. McBee seeks to use its own wells to serve all or part of its own system's demand for water, just like CSL Utilities. Based upon *CSL Utilities*, McBee has the right to do so and is not prohibited from doing so because Alligator is indebted to the USDA. Nothing in 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) restricts McBee's right to decide how much of its own water to produce—and neither Alligator in its argument nor the circuit court in its orders have identified any authority at all to the contrary.

At the hearing on the motion to alter or amend, Alligator stated that it submitted the Water Purchase Agreement to the USDA as “collateral” for its loan, and for that reason, the law was somehow distinguished. (R. p. 145; Tr. of May 24, 2016 p. 15.) The circuit court agreed in its order, finding that the Water Purchase Agreement “was pledged as security for the loan.” (R. p. 11; Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment p. 3.)

But this is no distinction, as Jennings—Alligator's parallel in the *CSL Utilities* case—also carried a debt with the USDA that it was repaying with water revenues. *See CSL Utilities*, 16 F.3d at 132 (“Jennings assumed those loans [with the predecessor agency to the USDA]—which in Geneva's case dated back to 1965—and in 1977 obtained another loan from the [USDA's predecessor] to connect and expand water treatment, storage, and distribution facilities.”).

To the limited extent this could be any kind of distinguishing point, it is a distinction without a difference. For one, the USDA, of course, is not the United States Congress. It cannot rewrite federal laws or otherwise create rights for Alligator that are not contained in 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b). *See Util. Air Regulatory Group v. EPA*, 134 S. Ct. 2427, 2446 (2014) (“We reaffirm the core administrative-law principle that an agency may not rewrite clear statutory terms to suit its own sense of how the statute should operate.”).

Furthermore, the USDA is not an unsophisticated entity. It was surely capable of reviewing the Water Purchase Agreement and recognizing that nothing in the contract restricts McBee from producing its own water and that nothing in the contract requires McBee to purchase all of its system's water from Alligator. If the USDA had wanted to condition its loan to Alligator on one or both of these provisions being added to the Water Purchase Agreement, it certainly could have made that position known. But there is no evidence that any such concerns were raised by the USDA or that its debt with Alligator was secured only by an interpretation of the Water Purchase Agreement that matches Alligator's self-serving and revisionist construction of the contract. Accordingly, the Court should not credit Alligator's empty attempt to distinguish this case from those discussed above that squarely rebut the circuit court's injunction orders.

**2. Title 7, Section 1926(b) does not allow Alligator to encroach on the Town's rights to serve A.O. Smith.**

As to A.O. Smith, the situation is entirely different. According to A.O. Smith's own pleadings, the Town's water lines that are at issue have been in place since at least 1979 and have been used to supply A.O. Smith's facility with water since at least that time. (R. pp. 53-54; Ans. & Countercls. of A.O. Smith Corp. pp. 8-9.) The Alligator Defendants did not even exist at that time. (R. p. 33; Ans. & Countercls. of Alligator p. 8 (explaining that the Alligator Defendants were first incorporated in 1987).) And the Alligator Defendants submitted an affidavit stating that they did not borrow money from Rural Development until 2001. (R. p. 190; Affidavit of Glenn C. Odom p. 2.)

The courts have referred to 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) as a shield that a USDA-financed supplier can use to prevent third parties from taking its customers. "[T]he goal of the statute is only to protect territory already being served by a rural water association from municipal expansion into the rural water association's area." *Le-Ax Water Dist. v. City of Athens, Ohio*, 346 F.3d 701, 708

(6th Cir. 2003). It “can be used only as a shield to defend against invasion rather than a sword to wage one.” *Id.* at 707.

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