THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001604  
Circuit Court Case No. 2015-CP-13-00379

---

Town of McBee, ..... Appellant,

v.

Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Company, Inc.,  
Alligator Rural Water Company, Inc., ..... Defendants,

and

A.O. Smith Corporation, ..... Intervenor-Defendant,

of whom

Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Company, Inc.,  
and Alligator Rural Water Company, Inc. are the, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

William O. Spencer, Jr., Esquire  
Post Office Box 190 - 301 West Main  
Street

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

By the time the Town started this litigation in June 2015, the parties had been operating under the Water Purchasing Agreement for almost 16 years. Under the existing arrangement, required by the federal government as a precondition of USDA/RD's loan to Alligator, the Town purchases water from Alligator and resells it to its customers. This arrangement ensures that both Alligator and the Town have stable revenue streams to support their respective loan-repayment obligations to USDA/RD.

When the Town filed suit to challenge Alligator's right to serve directly the Town's largest water customer, A.O. Smith, Alligator readily consented to entry of a preliminary injunction that preserved the status quo until the matter could be resolved on the merits. It is unfortunate that with the shoe on the other foot, the Town has elected to vigorously oppose Alligator's mirror-image request for preservation of the status quo through entry of a preliminary injunction, and to demand that Alligator, a non-profit entity performing a vital governmental function, post a six-figure bond.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion by enjoining the Town from operating its water system (and eliminating itself as a critical source of Alligator's revenue) until the merits of the dispute can be resolved. Collectively, the two preliminary injunctions entered by the circuit court

maintain the longstanding arrangement between Alligator and the Town, safeguarding the financial stability of both, and protecting USDA/RD's interest in receiving payment on outstanding loans, until such time as the court can decide the merits of the parties' disputes. (R. pp. 7-8 (Order (Apr. 7, 2016), at 1-2).) *Accord Cty. of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 671, 560 S.E.2d 902, 905 (Ct. App. 2002) (recognizing "the inherent purpose behind the equitable remedy of an injunction: *to preserve the status quo*" (emphasis added)), *modified on other grounds by Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15 (2010).

The record amply supports the circuit court's findings as to the prerequisites for entry of a preliminary injunction. As discussed below, the circuit court correctly determined that Alligator was likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of a preliminary injunction; that Alligator was likely to succeed on the merits of its claim under § 1926(b); and that Alligator had no adequate remedy at law. Moreover, the circuit court properly recognized the public's interest in a preliminary injunction, noting that an immediate cessation of water purchases by the Town "would inevitably cause Alligator to default on its Rural Development loan that would, in turn, jeopardize Alligator's ability to continue operating its entire water system and would ultimately impact Alligator's remaining

customers.” (R. p. 13 (Order (July 12, 2016), at 5).) Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

The circuit court also correctly ruled that Alligator is exempt from posting a bond under Rule 65(c). Alligator is a corporation not-for-profit formed for the public purpose of performing the governmental function of providing water service to the residents of Chesterfield County. Alligator thus fits comfortably within the letter and the spirit of the exemption for “the State or ... an officer or agency thereof.” Rule 65(c).

For these reasons, this Court should affirm.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ENTERING A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION TO PRESERVE THE STATUS QUO.**

“The sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo and thus avoid possible irreparable injury to a party pending litigation.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001). Consequently, “[a] preliminary injunction should issue only if necessary to preserve the status quo ante, and only upon a showing by the moving party that without such relief it will suffer irreparable harm, that it has a likelihood of success on the merits, and that there is no adequate remedy at law.” *Poynter Invs.*, 387 S.C. at 586–87, 694 S.E.2d at 17.

This Court's review of the circuit court's decision is deferential. "The granting of temporary injunctive relief is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion." *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 518, 520 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *See id.* at 282, 531 S.E.2d at 521.

**A. The circuit court correctly determined Alligator would suffer irreparable harm if it did not enter a preliminary injunction.**

"Whether a wrong is irreparable, in the sense that equity may intervene, and whether there is an adequate remedy at law, are questions that are not decided by narrow and artificial rules." *Levine v. Spartanburg Reg'l Servs. Dist., Inc.*, 367 S.C.458, 465, 626 S.E.2d 38, 42 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal quotation marks omitted). Numerous courts have concluded that a threatened violation of § 1926(b) is an irreparable harm justifying preliminary or permanent injunctive relief. *See, e.g., Dist. No. 5 Wagoner Cty. v. City of Coweta*, \_\_\_ F. Supp. 3d \_\_\_, 2016 WL 4289915, at \*6 (W.D. Okla. Aug. 15, 2016); *Rural Water Dist. No. 4 v. City of Eudora*, 2009 WL 2878450, at \*1 (D. Kan. Sept. 2, 2009); *N. Alamo Water Supply Corp. v. City of San Juan*, 90 F.3d 910, 917 (5th Cir. 1996).

The circuit court's finding of irreparable injury comports with Congress's purposes in enacting § 1926(b). Congress's goals were twofold: (1) to protect the ability of rural water associations to repay federal loans by ensuring their financial stability, and (2) "to encourage rural water development by expanding the number of potential users of such systems, thereby decreasing the per-user cost." *N. Alamo Water Supply*, 90 F.3d at 915. In light of these purposes, it is clear why the harm faced by Alligator was irreparable: financial stability, once undermined, is likely difficult (if not impossible) to regain and has repercussions far beyond the fiscal impact on Alligator itself.

**B. Alligator has demonstrated a likelihood of success on the merits.**

"When seeking a preliminary injunction, the plaintiff need not prove an absolute legal right; the plaintiff need only present a fair question ... as to the existence of such a right." *Levine*, 367 S.C. at 465, 626 S.E.2d at 42 (internal quotation marks omitted). The court's ruling on a motion for injunctive relief "should not be based on the merits except insofar as the merits may assist the trial court in determining whether a prima facie case has been made." *Id.* at 465-66, 626 S.E.2d at 42. "Once a prima facie showing has been made entitling the [movant] to injunctive relief, a temporary injunction will be granted without regard to the ultimate termination of the

case on the merits.” *Hesel v. City of North Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992).

Alligator has made at least a prima facie case that the Town’s operation of its own wells would violate § 1926(b). As the circuit court noted, Alligator’s right to protection under § 1926(b) arises ultimately out of the Town’s 1999 decision to shut down its wells and purchase its water from Alligator pursuant to the 40-year Water Purchase Agreement. (R. p. 10 (Order (July 12, 2016)), at 2.) In order to fulfill its end of the bargain, Alligator made substantial infrastructure improvements—digging wells, running water lines, installing boosters and a pump station—at great expense. (*Id.*) These improvements were financed, in part, by a \$674,500 loan from USDA/RD. To provide security for the Alligator’s indebtedness, USDA/RD required the Town to enter into the Water Purchase Agreement, thereby committing itself to purchasing its water from Alligator for a period of 40 years.

The Town seeks to disrupt this longstanding, federally mandated arrangement, and to imperil Alligator’s financial stability, by pumping and selling water from its own refurbished wells. But, “[t]he service area of a federally indebted water association is sacrosanct.” *N. Alamo Water Supply*, 90 F.3d at 915. Section 1926(b) “indicates a congressional mandate that local

governments not encroach upon the services provided by such associations, be that encroachment in the form of competing franchises, new or additional permit requirements, or similar means.” *City of Madison v. Bear Creek Water Ass’n, Inc.*, 816 F.2d 1057, 1060-61 (5th Cir. 1987). In this case, the encroachment takes the form of the Town removing itself as Alligator’s second-largest customer.

The Town argues that producing its own water cannot possibly violate § 1926(b), and as support for this position it relies on the Seventh Circuit’s analysis in *CSL Utilities, Inc. v. Jennings Water, Inc.*, 16 F.3d 130 (7th Cir. 1993). At first glance, *CSL Utilities* bears a superficial resemblance to this case, in that it involved a dispute between a water association (Jennings Water) and a wholesale customer (CSL Utilities) that wished to lower its costs by pumping its own water. *See id.* at 132. The similarities end there, however.

First, the wholesale customer in *CSL* was a private utility company that existed to serve a single subdivision – not, as in this case, a municipality obliged (and entitled) to provide water service to all persons within, or contiguous to, the Town’s borders.<sup>5</sup> The text of § 1926(b) makes clear that

---

<sup>5</sup> *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 5-31-1910 (2004) (authorizing cities and towns to provide water and electrical service to “any person without the corporate limits of such city or town but contiguous thereto”). As noted previously,

Congress was particularly concerned with the ability of a municipality to use its police power to undermine the financial stability of a rural water association—for example, by annexing property within the association’s territory. *See* 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b). Nothing in *CSL* indicates that *CSL Utilities* had any ability to expand its territory or impose other burdens on *Jennings Water*.

Second, and more critically, it does not appear that there was any formal contractual agreement between *Jennings Water* and *CSL Utilities*—or, if such an agreement existed, that it served as security for *Jennings Water’s* federal loan. That is a critical difference from this case. In this case, *USDA/RD* required *Alligator* and the Town to enter into the *Water Purchase Agreement* and to pledge that agreement as security for *Alligator’s* federal indebtedness. (R. p. 190 (*Odom Aff.*, at 2); R. p. 44 (*Water Purchase Agreement Art. III, § 9*.) It is thus plain that the continuing existence of the revenue stream from the Town’s water purchases is a critical part of the loan arrangement between *Alligator* and the federal government.

The Town entered into the *Water Purchase Agreement* with its eyes wide open. Not only did it make the deliberate choice to shut down its wells

---

A.O. Smith’s Chesterfield County facility is not contiguous to the Town’s corporate limits. *See supra* n. 1.

and accept Alligator as its sole water supplier, it also entered into the Water Purchase Agreement knowing that Alligator and USDA/RD relied on the Town continuing to purchase all of its water from Alligator for the entire 40-year duration of the contract.

The Town protests that the Water Purchase Agreement cannot be a requirements contract because it does not explicitly require the Town to purchase “all” of its water from Alligator. Appellant’s Br. at 10 (maintaining that “nothing in the [Water Purchase Agreement] requires [the Town] to purchase all of its system’s water from Alligator”); *see id.* at 11-13 (arguing that the Water Purchase Agreement is not a requirements contract). The Town is simply wrong.

The Water Purchase Agreement provides that Alligator agrees

to furnish [the Town] at the point of delivery, during the term of this Agreement and any renewal or extension thereof, potable treated water ... *in such quantity as may be required by [the Town]*, subject to the following [maximum amounts].

(R. p. 42. (Water Purchase Agreement Art. I, § 1 (emphasis added)).) The emphasized language establishes, as a matter of South Carolina law, that the Water Purchase Agreement as a requirements contract. The relevant statutory provision is S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-306 (2003), which provides, “A [contract] term which measures the quantity by ... the requirements of the

buyer means such *actual ... requirements* as may occur in good faith.” (emphasis added); accord *Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp. Int’l, LLC*, 407 S.C. 407, 415-16, 756 S.E.2d 148, 152 (2014) (holding that South Carolina recognizes and enforces requirements contracts). As our Supreme Court explained in *Stevens Aviation*, a contract that is phrased in terms of the buyer’s requirements and without stating a minimum quantity is *necessarily* a requirements contract, under which the buyer is obliged to purchase *all* of its requirements from the seller. *Id.* Otherwise, the buyer’s promise would be illusory and there would be no enforceable contract at all. *See id.* Indeed, the Illinois Court of Appeals has construed language identical to that quoted above and has held that it created a requirements contract. *See City of Cuba v. City of Canton*, 2011 Ill. App. (3d) 110066-U, at \*3-4 (Ill. Ct. App. 2011).

Since the Water Purchase Agreement is a requirements contract, the Town is not entitled to abandon its obligations simply because it can produce its own water more cheaply than it can buy water from Alligator. Under long-settled common law, “[a]n essential element of a requirements contract is the promise of a buyer to purchase *exclusively* from the seller ... the buyer’s *entire requirements*.” 77a C.J.S. *Sales* § 303 (emphasis added). Thus, the Town producing would constitute not only a breach of the Water Purchase Agreement, but also a curtailment or limitation prohibited by

§ 1926(b). Consequently, Alligator has shown a likelihood of success on the merits.

**C. Alligator lacks an adequate remedy at law.**

The Town further contends that even if operating its wells would violate Alligator's rights under § 1926(b), injunctive relief is not necessary because Alligator has a remedy at law in the form of an award of damages. Appellant's Br. at 13-14. But, courts applying § 1926(b) have recognized that a threatened violation of § 1926(b) creates "a significant risk of harm ... that cannot be cured by monetary damages." *Rural Water v. City of Guthrie*, 2016 WL 126877, at \*2 (W.D. Okla. Jan. 11, 2016); *see also Miss. Rural Water Ass'n, Inc. v. Miss. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 2014 WL 12540566, at \*3 (S.D. Miss. Dec. 9, 2014) ("[T]he Congressional mandate of § 1926(b) is designed to protect the financial security of the members of [an indebted association]; protect their financial viability to pay off their USDA loans; and to protect their ability to take on new customers/members, thereby decreasing the per user cost of the water system. Thus, any action by the MPSC that opposes or violates § 1926(b) and its mandates results in irreparable harm to [the association's] members." (citation omitted)). For this reason, "[p]reliminary injunctions are routinely sought and granted in § 1926(b) suits." *Adams Cty. Water Ass'n, Inc. v. City of Natchez*, 2013 WL 3762658, at \*3 (S.D. Miss. July 16, 2013); *see*

also *N. Alamo Water Supply*, 90 F.3d at 917 (noting that “an injunction has been the principal tool employed by the Courts” in enforcing § 1926(b)).

## II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO REQUIRE ALLIGATOR TO POST A BOND

Rule 65(c), SCRCP, provides, in relevant part that

no restraining order or temporary injunction shall issue except upon the giving of security by the applicant, in such sum as the court deems proper, for the payment of such costs and damages as may be incurred or suffered by any party who is found to have been wrongfully enjoined or restrained. *No such security shall be required of the State or of an officer or agency thereof.*

(emphasis added). The Town argues that the circuit court erred in ruling that Alligator is entitled to the benefit of the exemption set out in the last sentence quoted above. To the contrary, the circuit court’s ruling was correct and should be affirmed.

Alligator is a particular type of corporate entity: a corporation not-for-profit funded, in part, by loans under the Rural Development Act. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-36-10. In enacting § 33-36-10, the General Assembly found

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